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REGULATORY ACTION

Regulators seek to curb Wall St. trades  
with Volcker rule
(Reuters) – U.S. banks will no longer be able to make big trading bets with their own 
money after regulators on Dec. 10 finalized the Volcker rule and shut down what was 
a hugely profitable business for Wall Street before the credit crisis.

After struggling for more than two years to craft 
the complex rule, five regulatory agencies signed 
off on the nearly 900-page reform that included 
new tough sections narrowing carve-outs for 
legitimate trades.

The rule is expected to eat into revenues at 
large investment banks such as Goldman Sachs 
and Morgan Stanley, even if many have already 
wound down some of their trading desks in 
anticipation of the rule’s release, and may spark 
legal challenges.

Reform advocates cheered the changes in a sign 
they were tougher than the original proposal in 
November 2011, but much of the impact will be 
down to how regulators police banks to make 
sure they do not try to pass off speculative bets as 
permissible trades.

The rule is named after former Federal Reserve Chairman Paul Volcker, 
shown here speaking at a business conference earlier this year.

REUTERS/Mike Segar

“At some point, someone is going to have to write 
up a manual for examiners on what to look for and 
... how to enforce that stuff.  That’s going to be a 
really important document,” said Bradley Sabel, a 
lawyer at Shearman & Sterling in New York.

ARBITRATION

By Peter H. Hamner, Esq., Senior Legal Writer

New York federal judge’s decision to block  
arbitration of Goldman Sachs dispute conflicts 
with other circuits
A lawsuit alleging that Goldman Sachs & Co. defrauded a municipal agency out of 
$149.7 million through the issuance of auction-rate securities will continue in federal 
court instead of arbitration, a federal New York judge has ruled.

CONTINUED ON PAGE 18
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AUCTION-RATE SECURITIES

Citigroup sues hospital to halt securities arbitration 
Citigroup Global Markets has filed a federal court lawsuit to stop arbitration proceedings that the financial firm faces for 
allegedly committing fraud when it advised a hospital on issuing and selling auction-rate securities.

Citigroup Global Markets Inc. v. All 
Children’s Hospital Inc., No. 1:13-cv-08558, 
complaint filed (S.D.N.Y. Dec. 2, 2013).

Citigroup’s suit, filed Dec. 2 in the U.S. District 
Court for the Southern District of New York, 
says the broker-dealer agreement between 
the company and All Children’s Hospital 
requires disputes arising from their former 
business relationship to go before an actual 
court rather than an arbitral body.

The contractual provision covers the 
statement of claim that the hospital filed with 
the Financial Industry Regulatory Authority 
to begin arbitration proceedings, the bank 
argues in seeking a court order blocking the 
FINRA arbitration.

that is set at auction every seven, 14, 28 or 35 
days.  At the auctions, investors bid on the 
securities, seeking a long-term investment 
with interest or dividend rates slightly higher 
than those of a money market fund.

If no bid is high enough to buy all 
the securities, the auction “fails,” and 
the securities pay interest at a higher 
predetermined “maximum,” or “penalty,” 
rate until the next auction.

All Children’s also entered into an interest 
rate swap, a type of financial insurance, with 
Citigroup.  The hospital allegedly agreed to 
make periodic fixed-rate interest payments 
to Citigroup, with Citigroup making floating-
rate payments to the hospital in exchange.

ALL CHILDREN’S ALLEGATIONS

All Children’s underlying FINRA claim, which 
Citigroup attached to the complaint, accuses 
the bank and other investment brokers of 

propping up the ARS market by secretly 
entering bids that kept the securities’ floating 
interest rates artificially low.

Citigroup and other underwriters allegedly 
stopped making the support bids in early 
2008, causing widespread auction failures 
that sent interest skyrocketing to the penalty 
rate.

The failed ARS market caused significant 
damage to All Children’s, and the interest-
rate swap amplified the hospital’s losses, the 
complaint says.

All Children’s FINRA claim alleges breach 
of fiduciary duty, FINRA rules violations, 
breach of contract, negligence, negligent 
supervision, negligent misrepresentation 
and fraud.

But according to Citigroup’s federal 
complaint, the FINRA arbitration is not the 
proper venue for the hospital’s claims.

All Children’s agreed in the broker-dealer 
agreement to litigate any dispute arising 
from the contract in New York state or federal 
court, the bank says.   WJ

Related Court Document:
Complaint: 

 REUTERS/Brendan McDermid

Citigroup is seeking a court 
order blocking the FINRA 

arbitration.

THE SECURITIES

According to the complaint, Citigroup acted 
as All Children’s underwriter and broker-
dealer when the hospital issued $92.2 million 
worth of auction-rate securities in September 
2007 in order to improve the hospital and 
refund previously issued bonds.

Issuers of auction-rate securities pay 
investors interest or dividends based on a rate 
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REGULATORY ACTION

Emerging FX derivatives turnover rises  
as investors hedge risk, survey says
(Reuters) – Investors seeking to cut exchange rate risk have driven a rise in the 
emerging currency derivatives market, with turnover increasing by 40 percent 
in the past three years, a Bank for International Settlements survey showed  
Dec. 8.

fallen more than 18 percent while the Indian, 
Turkish and Brazilian currencies are down  
10 percent to 12 percent.

The BIS said derivatives trading growth 
had been strong across the spectrum, with 
turnover in forwards, currency swaps and 
options rising faster than in developed 
markets.  OTC trade in options, for instance, 
posted a 102 percent rise in the 2010-2013 
period.

In contrast, turnover in spot-currency trading 
rose by just 17 percent over the survey period.

Interest rate derivatives in emerging 
markets also grew in the past three years, 
expanding by a third, the BIS said.  Average 
daily turnover remains small, however, at  
$84 billion, or 4 percent of developed 
markets.   WJ

The survey, an update on the triennial 
survey published by the BIS in September, 
showed over-the-counter trading turnover 
in emerging currency derivatives had grown 
to $535 billion in 2013, compared with  
$380 billion in 2010.

OTC refers to trade in securities in settings 
other than a centralized exchange, such as 
via dealer networks.

According to the BIS, the figures are 
“consistent with the view that hedging 
demand and speculation by foreign portfolio 
investors — interested in mitigating the 
exchange-rate risks of their local currency 

“Over-the-counter” trading 
refers to trade in securities 

in settings other than a 
centralized exchange, such 

as via dealer networks.

REUTERS Vivek Prakash

investments or speculating on currency 
movements — has grown in importance.”

Emerging currencies have weakened 
significantly this year against the dollar, 
denting emerging stock and bond returns for 
foreign investors.  The South African rand has 
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SECURITIES FRAUD

BofA seeks dismissal of 2 suits over failed 
mortgage-backed securities
Bank of America has asked a North Carolina federal court to dismiss two 
lawsuits brought by the Justice Department and the Securities and Exchange 
Commission over failed mortgage-backed security transactions.

United States v. Bank of America Corp. 
et al., No. 13-446, motion to dismiss filed 
(W.D.N.C. Nov. 8, 2013).

Securities and Exchange Commission v. 
Bank of America Corp. et al., No. 13-447, 
motion to dismiss filed (W.D.N.C. Nov. 8, 
2013).

In separate motions filed Nov. 8 in the U.S. 
District Court for the Western District of North 
Carolina, the bank says neither the federal 
government nor the SEC has brought viable 
allegations against it and therefore both 
suits should be dismissed in their entireties.

The suits arise from BofA’s sale of $855 
million in mortgage-backed securities to 
Wachovia Bank and the Federal Home Loan 
Bank of San Francisco in December 2007.  

The loan pool of bundled securities, BOAMS 
2008-A, included 1,191 jumbo adjustable-
rate mortgages, according to BofA.  The 
bundled mortgages were not subprime, and 
most of the borrowers were well-qualified, 
the bank says. 

Furthermore, the motions say, BofA and 
co-defendants Banc of America Mortgage 
Securities Inc. and Merrill Lynch Pierce 
Fenner & Smith Inc. clearly disclosed a major 
risk factor to the investors: that 70 percent 
of the mortgages were obtained from 
third-party mortgage brokers through the 
wholesale channel.  

When BOAMS 2008-A lost significant 
investor money in the 2008 financial 
meltdown, both the Justice Department and 
the SEC investigated the transaction. 

THE JUSTICE DEPARTMENT SUIT

The Department of Justice and the SEC 
filed suit simultaneously earlier this year.  
The DOJ’s claims were filed pursuant to the 
Financial Institutions Reform Recovery and 
Enforcement Act of 1989, 12 U.S.C. § 1833a.  

That law was enacted in the wake of the 
1980s savings-and-loan crisis to crack down 
on financial institution mismanagement.  It 

BofA argues that while it would have been 
impossible to list every possible risk, it did 
reasonably disclose the major risks and 
extensively documented the array of risks 
investors would face if they purchased 
BOAMS 2008-A.

The bank argues that the buyers of 98 percent 
of the securities — Wachovia Bank (now Wells 
Fargo) and the Federal Home Loan Bank of 
San Francisco — were sophisticated buyers.  
Neither they nor the buyers of the other 2 
percent have filed their own suits in the wake 
of the losses, the bank notes.

Further, the SEC is required to plead its 
allegations with specificity, which it has not 
done, the BofA says.

Section 17(a) “requires proof that the bank 
engaged in a transaction, practice or regular 
business that operates or would operate 
as a fraud or deceit upon purchasers of the 
certificates.  The complaint contains no 
allegations that, if true, would establish such 
a fraud or deceit,” the motion to dismiss says.

The motions are pending before U.S. 
District Judge Max Cogburn Jr.  The Justice 
Department and the SEC had not filed 
opposition briefs at press time.  WJ

Related Court Documents:
Motion to dismiss DOJ suit: 2013 WL 5974362 
Motion to dismiss SEC suit: 2013 WL 5974363

imposes civil penalties for crimes against 
financial institutions but relieves the 
government of the obligation to prove those 
crimes beyond a reasonable doubt, BofA says. 

To adequately plead a violation of FIRREA, 
the government must identify a predicate 
crime, according to the motion to dismiss.  REUTERS/Chris Keane

BofA insists it reasonably disclosed the major risks of the 
mortgage-backed securities it sold.  

Here, the government alleges violations 
of the federal false-statements statute, 
18 U.S.C §  1001, and violations of 18 U.S.C. 
§ 1014, a statute prohibiting fraud in loan and 
credit applications.

But BofA argues that the government fails to 
state a claim under either statute. 

Section 1001 was designed to penalize 
falsehoods that interfere with government 
operations; thus the alleged misstatements 
must have a tendency to influence the actions 
of a federal agency.  However, the alleged 
misstatements in this case were to solicit 
investors to buy securities, not to influence 
the actions of the government, the bank says.

Similarly, Section 1014 prohibits financial 
institutions from making false statements 
when engaging in banking or insurance 
activities.  Here, the institutions were buying 
and selling securities, not loaning money 
or providing insurance, according to the 
dismissal motion.

THE SEC SUIT

The SEC alleges BofA and its partners failed 
to adequately disclose the risks of investing in 
the mortgage-backed securities in violation 
of Section 17(a) of the Securities Act of 1933.

That section requires the agency to prove 
the issuer of a security made material 
misstatements or omissions in its offering 
documents and acted negligently, the bank 
says.  
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MORTGAGE-BACKED SECURITIES

MBS trust investors seek to revive class standing against BNY Mellon
By Brett Goncher, Esq., Senior Content Writer, Westlaw Daily Briefing

Executives and directors at some of the world’s largest banks may be liable under the Securities Act of 1933 for mis-
statements in supplemental securities prospectuses even though they signed only earlier, so-called “shelf registration” 
statements, a Manhattan federal judge has ruled.

Federal Housing Finance Agency et al. v. HSBC North America 
Holdings Inc. et al., Nos. 11-cv-6189, 11-cv-6190, 11-cv-6192, 11-cv-
6193, 11-cv-6195, 11-cv-6198, 11-cv-6200, 11-cv-6201, 11-cv-6202, 
11-cv-6203, 11-cv-6739 and 11-cv-7010, order entered (S.D.N.Y. Dec. 
10, 2013).

The dispute is part of a dozen lawsuits the Federal Housing Finance 
Agency filed in 2011 against numerous large financial institutions and 
individual executives and directors over Fannie Mae and Freddie Mac’s 
losses on about $200 billion in subprime mortgage bonds.

U.S. District Judge Denise L. Cote of the Southern District of New 
York found the prospectus supplements effectively reset the dates of 
the shelf registrations because the new information fundamentally 
changed the securities offering.

In a shelf registration, a company files a single registration statement 
with the Securities and Exchange Commission describing a group 
of new securities and then sells them later to investors in separate 
offerings accompanied by supplemental prospectuses.

Section 11 of the Securities Act, 15 U.S.C.A. § 77k, imposes liability on 
an issuer of a securities registration statement that contains an untrue 
statement or omits a material fact.

Judge Cote rejected the defendants’ argument that the Securities and 
Exchange Commission’s 2005 amendment to Rule 430B, 17 C.F.R. 
230.430B, exempts them from responsibility for material contained in 
later-filed prospectus supplements that they did not sign.

NO ‘SEA CHANGE’

In August the bank executives and directors moved for a partial 
judgment on the pleadings, arguing that the FHFA’s Section 11 claims 
are based on alleged misrepresentations that were found only in 
prospectus supplements they never signed.

While the shelf registration statements did not contain specific 
details about the underlying mortgages, Judge Cote found the 
prospectus supplements made statements about the borrowers’ 
creditworthiness and the quality of the securities, which are the alleged 
misrepresentations at the heart of the suits.

The amended Rule 430B still deems information newly disclosed in 
prospectus supplements to be included in registration statements for 
purposes of Section 11, the judge explained.

She said the SEC did not intend the amendments to Rule 430B to be a 
“sea change in Section 11 liability,” noting the agency itself characterized 
them as “incremental changes.”

“In addressing the triggering dates that relate specifically to issuers 
and underwriters, the SEC explained that it had tried to reconcile 
the effective dates for shelf offerings with the comparable dates for 
non-shelf offerings to eliminate ‘unwarranted, disparate treatment of 
underwriters and issuers under Section 11,’” the judge said.

“But, when it came to others, such as directors and officers signing 
registration statements, the filing of a form of prospectus will not result 
in a ‘later Section 11 liability date than that which applied prior to our new 
rules,” she said.

As a result, the defendants are not exempt from liability for information 
in the prospectus supplements that fundamentally changed the 
registration statements, Judge Cote concluded.

FHFA SUITS

The Housing and Economic Recovery Act of 2008, 12 U.S.C.A. § 4511, 
authorized the creation of the FHFA in September 2008 as the federal 
conservator for Fannie Mae and Freddie Mac after they nearly collapsed 
during the nation’s mortgage crisis.

Fannie Mae, formally the Federal National Mortgage Association, and 
Freddie Mac, formally the Federal Home Loan Mortgage Corp., were 
so-called “government-sponsored entities” that bought residential 
mortgage loans to be held in investment portfolios or repackaged as 
securities backed by the loans.

The FHFA’s suits say Fannie Mae and Freddie Mac relied on the banks’ 
offering documents, which described the underwriting standards, 
including loan-to-value ratios and owner-occupancy status, used to 
originate the mortgages.

The securities at issue are securitized interests in pools of residential 
mortgages.  They pay income dividends to investors based on streams 
of principal and interest flowing into the pools from mortgage holders.

According to the FHFA, the banks’ offering materials misstated their 
compliance with underwriting guidelines and the ability of the underlying 
borrowers to make payments on their loans or concealed these problems 
with the loans.

Last month, JPMorgan agreed to pay $4 billion to settle the FHFA’s suit 
as part of a $13 billion deal with the U.S. government over the New York-
based bank’s alleged mortgage misconduct before the financial crisis, 
according to Reuters.  WJ

REUTERS/Brendan McDermid
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MORTGAGE-BACKED SECURITIES

$1.5 billion fraud suit will continue against Goldman Sachs
A $1.5 billion lawsuit alleging that Goldman Sachs misrepresented the underlying value of mortgage-backed securities 
has survived the investment bank’s motion to dismiss.

HSH Nordbank AG et al. v. Goldman Sachs 
Group et al., No. 652991/12, 2013 WL 
6240431 (N.Y. Sup. Ct., N.Y. County Nov. 26, 
2013).

Judge Melvin L. Schweitzer of the New 
York County Supreme Court said plaintiff 
HSH Nordbank AG sufficiently alleged that 
Goldman committed fraud.

Germany-based Nordbank purchased 
securities in six residential mortgage-backed 
securities offerings from Goldman between 
2005 and 2006, according to an order issued 
by Judge Schweitzer.

A mortgage-backed security is a financial 
instrument backed by pools of mortgage 
loans whose principal and interest payments 
are distributed to investors with varying 
maturity dates, cash flows and default risks.

The securities declined in value, causing 
losses of $1.5 billion to Nordbank, the order 
says.  The bank’s lawsuit alleges Goldman 
committed fraud, fraudulent concealment, 
negligent misrepresentation, and aiding and 
abetting fraud. 

Nordbank alleges the offering documents 
for the securities prepared by Goldman 
misrepresented the underlying value of 
the mortgage loans and the securities.  
Specifically, Goldman provided false credit 
ratings, owner-occupancy percentages 
for the underlying mortgages, appraisal 
amounts and loan-to-value ratios, the suit 
says.  

Goldman also knew underwriting guidelines 
were being abandoned, and the offering 
materials presented false information to 
induce Nordbank to purchase the securities, 
the suit says.

Goldman moved to dismiss the complaint, 
arguing that Nordbank did not correctly 
plead that it committed fraud.

Judge Schweitzer disagreed.  He said 
Nordbank’s complaint presented evidence 
that Goldman knew the information in the 
offering documents was false.  

For instance, a third-party due diligence 
company provided Goldman with reports 
detailing the deficiencies of the underlying 
mortgages, the order says.

Nordbank alleged that Goldman negotiated 
lower payments for the loans based on the 
reports it received before it prepared the 
offering documents, the order says. 

The judge did, however, dismiss the credit 
rating allegations, saying the complaint 

failed to specifically show that Goldman 
presented false information to the credit 
rating agencies to obtain higher ratings.

Goldman also lost its bid to dismiss the 
complaint on statute-of-limitations grounds 
because the investment bank did not present 
enough evidence of when Nordbank became 
aware of the alleged fraud. Plaintiff HSH Nordbank alleges the offering documents for 

securities it bought and prepared by Goldman misrepresented 
the underlying value of the mortgage loans and the securities.  

REUTERS/Fabian Bimmer

Plaintiff HSH Nordbank 
says Goldman Sachs 

committed fraud, fraudulent 
concealment, negligent 
misrepresentation, and 

aiding and abetting fraud.

Goldman had argued that the three-year 
limitations period began to run in 2007 
because press reports and lawsuits at that 
time indicated an abandoning of mortgage 
underwriting guidelines.  The suit should 
have been dismissed because it was not 
filed until 2012, after the limitations period 
expired, Goldman said.

Judge Schweitzer said Goldman may move 
to dismiss on statute-of-limitations grounds 
at a later date.  WJ

Related Court Document:
Decision and order: 2013 WL 6240431

See Document Section B (P. 32) for the decision.
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KNOCK-IN/KNOCK-OUT OPTIONS

$73 million fraud suit against Citibank moves forward  
in federal court
A lawsuit alleging that a Citibank subsidiary fraudulently induced a Korean company into a series of derivative contracts 
that were structured to hurt the company will stay in federal court.

Simmtech Co. v. Citibank NA et al.,  
No. 13-CV-6768, 2013 WL 6334367 
(S.D.N.Y. Dec. 4, 2013).

U.S. District Judge Katherine B. Forrest of the 
Southern District of New York said Simmtech 
Co.’s lawsuit belongs in federal court because 
the Edge Act, 12 U.S.C.A. § 632, which was 
used to transfer the dispute from state court, 
is constitutionally sound.

The Edge Act provides federal courts with 
jurisdiction over disputes in which one 
party is a company organized in the United 
States and the transaction at issue regards 
international or foreign banking.  This 
includes Simmtech’s allegations over foreign 
currency derivatives, the judge ruled. 

Judge Forrest upheld the constitutionality 
of the Edge Act, saying its enactment 
was “unquestionably” a valid exercise of 
congressional power.

Simmtech, a worldwide seller of circuit boards 
for semiconductors, purchased derivatives 
from Citibank, including “knock-in” and 
“knock-out” options, dual currency deposits, 
and currency coupon swaps.  The derivative 
contracts were supposed to help the 

company hedge against the risk of changes 
in the exchange rate between the U.S. dollar 
and Korean won.   

An option contract gives the owner of the 
contract the right to buy or sell a fixed 
number of securities at a set date for a set 
price, while a knock-in option is a contract 
that becomes an option contract when a set 
market price is met.  A knock-out option sets 
a ceiling for an option contract holder’s profit 
margin.

The complex derivatives were designed to 
benefit the plaintiff in their first year but 
“disguised” the fact that the company faced 
large risks in the second and third years of 
the contracts, Simmtech claimed.  

Simmtech filed the suit in New York state 
court, and Citigroup removed the case to 
federal court, citing the Edge Act.  

In response, Simmtech moved for remand, 
arguing the federal court could not have 

The derivatives were designed to benefit the plaintiff in the first 
year of the contract but created larger risks for the company in 

the second and third years, the suit says.

jurisdiction over the lawsuit through the Edge 
Act because the law is unconstitutional.  It 
claimed that the Edge Act is unconstitutional 
because it gives federal courts jurisdiction 
without reference to a law, in violation of 
Article III of the U.S. Constitution. 

Judge Forrest rejected Simmtech’s argument.  

Quoting A.I.	 Trade	 Finance	 v.	 Petra	
International	 Banking	 Corp., 62 F.3d 1454 
(D.C. Cir. 1995), Judge Forrest said the 
Edge Act is constitutionally valid because 
it granted federal jurisdiction as part of 
a legislative scheme that referenced the 
necessary substantive law.  She said the 
Edge Act was introduced to “increase the 
stability of, and the public’s confidence in, 
international markets.”  WJ

Attorneys:
Plaintiff: Christine M. Bae and Carlton R. Asher 
Jr., Kim & Bae, New York

Defendant: Daniel M. Perry, Jed M. Schwartz and 
Scott A. Edelman, Milbank, Tweed, Hadley & 
McCloy, Los Angeles

Related Court Document:
Decision and order: 2013 WL 6334367

See Document Section C (P. 42) for the decision 
and order.

The plaintiff is a worldwide seller of circuit boards for semiconductors like the one shown here.

Simmtech says it entered into a combination 
of these contracts between 2006 and 2008 
at the direction of Citibank Korea, costing 
the company $73 million when they expired 
between 2008 and 2010.

Citibank allegedly marketed the derivatives 
to Simmtech and other clients as a “safe bet” 
premised on materials provided to clients 
indicating a small risk on the part of the 
investor. 
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SECURITIES LENDING

Securities lending suit is untimely, does not 
state a claim, BNY Mellon says
A lawsuit alleging that Bank of New York Mellon invested a pension fund’s as-
sets in a Lehman Bros. note and then failed to sell the note before Lehman’s 
collapse should be dismissed, the bank says in a court filing.

United Food and Commercial Workers 
International Union-Industry Pension Fund 
et al. v. Bank of New York Mellon, No. 13- 
CV-04484, motion to dismiss filed (N.D. Ill. 
Dec. 9, 2013).

BNY Mellon says the United Food and 
Commercial Workers International Union-
Industry Pension Fund’s complaint was filed 
too late and fails to show the bank knew it 
was holding the note too long in breach of its 
fiduciary duties.

According to the motion to dismiss, the 
pension fund entered into a securities 
lending program with BNY Mellon in 2003.

In such a program, a customer loans a bank 
certain securities that are in turn loaned to 
other borrowers in return for cash collateral.  
The bank then invests the cash collateral 
in liquid investments so it can sell them 
and repay the borrower in cash when the 
securities ultimately are returned.

The pension fund alleges in its complaint 
that the bank was obligated to act as 
its fiduciary pursuant to the Employee 
Retirement Income Security Act of 1974, 29 
U.S.C. § 1001, because it provided investment 
management services to the fund. 

THE LEHMAN NOTE

The pension fund claims BNY Mellon assured 
the fund that it would invest the fund’s cash 
collateral in “safe” and “‘short-term, high-
quality money market instruments,’” the suit 
says.

BNY Mellon invested $20 million of the 
fund’s cash collateral in an A-1 rated Lehman 
note in March 2007, and Lehman filed for 
Chapter 11 bankruptcy protection Sept. 15, 
2008, causing the note to drop significantly 
in value.

United Food sued BNY Mellon June 18, 
alleging the bank violated its duties of care 
and loyalty under ERISA by failing to monitor 
the notes.  It claims Mellon knew Lehman 
was in trouble and should have sold the note 
sooner.

The bank moved to dismiss the complaint, 
asserting it was filed after the statute of 
repose expired and that it does not state a 
proper claim against the bank.

BNY Mellon says the statute of repose for an 
ERISA action mandates an action be brought 
within six years of the alleged malfeasance.  

Here, the note was purchased March 2007, 
meaning the action should have been filed 
sometime before March 2013.  But the 
action was not filed until June 18, making it 
time-barred, the bank claims.

Further, the plaintiff’s “cherry-picked media 
stories and speculation do not satisfy” the 
“plausibility standard” required for an ERISA 
claim, the bank says.  

At the time that the bank held the note, 
the market did not know Lehman’s status 
because of conflicting reports, and it was not 
improper to continue holding it, Mellon says.  
WJ
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BERNIE MADOFF

SIPC tells Supreme Court Madoff trustee can sue on its behalf
The Securities Investor Protection Corp. has joined in a request by Irving Picard, the trustee seeking to recover money for 
victims of Bernie Madoff, that the U.S. Supreme Court examine a federal appellate panel’s ruling that he lacks standing 
to pursue claims against the investment banks allegedly used to back Madoff’s Ponzi scheme.

Picard v. JPMorgan Chase & Co. et al., No. 13-448, brief in support of 
petition filed (U.S. Nov. 8, 2013).

The SIPC, which reportedly has paid out more than $800 million to 
compensate former Madoff customers, says the 2nd U.S. Circuit Court 
of Appeals’ decision barring Picard’s suit has eviscerated its statutory 
subrogation right to recover those sums.

“By denying the trustee the ability to pursue claims against third parties 
that enabled the fraud perpetrated upon customers and deepened 
their losses, the 2nd Circuit effectively renders inoperative SIPC’s 
subrogation rights,” it says in a brief filed with the Supreme Court.

PICARD’S SUIT

Picard sued a number of financial institutions in the U.S. District Court 
for the Southern District of New York for allegedly aiding and abetting 
Madoff’s Ponzi scheme while collecting large fees and ignoring blatant 
warning signs.

trustee for the failed brokerage firm, he stood in Madoff’s shoes.  In	re	
Bernard	L.	Madoff	Inv.	Sec.	LLC, 721 F.3d 54 (2d Cir. June 20, 2013).

The doctrine prevents one wrongdoer from recovering against another.

The appeals court also held that SIPA does not give Picard the right to 
seek recovery from the banks in order to reimburse SIPC for the sums it 
advanced to Madoff’s customers.

PICARD TURNS TO SUPREME COURT

In October, Picard filed a petition for writ of certiorari with the Supreme 
Court.

He raised a host of arguments, including that the 2nd Circuit’s decision 
nullifies the SIPC’s subrogation rights and conflicts with the 3rd and 
6th circuits by holding that those rights are limited to customer claims 
against the failed brokerage’s estate.

The SIPC has now weighed in on the issue with a brief of its own.

It say Congress empowered it to advance funds to SIPA trustees for 
the benefit of customers in return for a right of subrogation to the 
customers’ claims against third parties responsible for their losses.

The brief says the 2nd Circuit “robbed both SIPC and the SIPA trustee 
of the power to achieve these goals in the face of the greatest Ponzi 
scheme in American history.”

The SIPC echoes Picard’s claim that the 2nd Circuit has created a 
conflict with the 3rd and 6th circuits, which it says have recognized 
its statutory right to be subrogated to the customers’ claims against 
the banks.  It also argues that it has common-law subrogation rights 
independent of SIPA’s statutory authority.

The SIPC raises the additional argument that the 2nd Circuit’s decision 
may potentially impact taxpayers.

Although the SIPC is privately funded through assessments paid by 
member broker-dealers, a shortfall in its fund may be replenished by 
borrowing up to $2.5 billion from the U.S. Treasury, the brief says.

The SIPC also says the 2nd Circuit erred in finding the doctrine of in	pari	
delicto bars Picard’s claims.

It says a number of circuit courts have held that the doctrine is simply 
a defense, and not a basis to deprive a SIPA trustee of standing.  WJ

Attorneys:
Petitioner: David J. Sheehan and Oren J. Warshavsky, BakerHostetler LLP, 
New York

SIPC: Josephine Wang, Washington

Related Court Document:
Brief: 2013 WL 5967532

The SIPC, a nonprofit organization created under the Securities 
Investor Protection Act, maintains a fund to pay account holders up to 
$500,000 each when a registered broker-dealer fails.  It intervened in 
the suit to support Picard’s efforts to recover some or all of the $800 
million it advanced to victims, according to court records.

In two separate decisions in 2011, the District Court found Picard lacked 
standing to bring his common-law claims.

The 2nd Circuit affirmed those decisions in June, finding the doctrine 
of in	pari	delicto barred Picard from pursuing the claims because, as 

REUTERS/Shannon Stapleton
Bernard Madoff walks back to his apartment in New York in this Dec. 17, 2008, file photo.  The 
Securities Investor Protection Corp. intervened in a lawsuit to support trustee Irving Picard’s efforts to 
recover some or all of the $800 million it advanced to victims of Madoff’s Ponzi scheme.
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COMMENTARY

Time to ‘friend’ Facebook? Using social media to win your case
By Christopher A. Page, Esq.  
Young Moore & Henderson

Do you request social media information 
from opposing parties in your litigated cases 
through formal discovery?  Is doing so a 
standard practice of the litigators in your law 
firm, regardless of the type of litigation?  The 
answer to both of these questions ought to 
be “yes,” but it’s likely “no.”  

Civil litigators are only starting to get the 
sense of what the social media revolution is 
and how it affects their cases.  Social media 
has increasingly become the way in which 
people and businesses interact with the 
world.  And a critical characteristic of social 
media makes it very important for litigators: 
it essentially leaves behind a paper trail.  
Thus, for every type of claim, from personal 
injury to complex commercial litigation, the 
inquisitive attorney may find social media 
evidence that can help him or her win a case.

The published case law is exploding with 
references to social media, and the law on 
its use is still developing in every state and 
federal court.  Thus, it’s important to stay 
updated on how the courts in your jurisdiction 
are handling social media evidence.

THE REVOLUTION IS HERE

Approximately one of every seven people 
on Earth is a Facebook user.1  Most users — 
about 50 percent — access their Facebook 
profiles every day, and 58 percent of users 
return to the site daily.  Twitter, which has 

A review of the published cases reflects the 
myriad ways in which social media evidence 
can be relevant to any type of lawsuit:

• Investigating fraud in personal injury 
cases.

• Finding witnesses.

• Establishing jurisdictional facts.

• Serving parties (locating a home 
address).

Christopher A. Page is a commercial and 
employment litigation attorney at ALFA 
International member firm Young Moore & 
Henderson in Raleigh, N.C.  He can be 
reached at cap@youngmoorelaw.com. 

more than 500 million registered users, was 
the fastest-growing social media network 
in 2012, followed closely behind by Tumblr, 
LinkedIn, Pinterest and Reddit.  Every minute 
of the day:  

• 100,000 tweets are sent.

• 684,478 pieces of content are shared on 
Facebook.

• 2 million search queries are entered on 
Google.

• 48 hours of video are uploaded to 
YouTube.

For every type of claim, from personal injury to complex 
commercial litigation, the inquisitive attorney may find social 

media evidence that can help him or her win a case.

• 3,600 photos are shared on Instagram.

• 571 websites are created.

• $272,000 is spent by consumers 
online.2 

With these staggering statistics, it is highly 
probable that users and companies are 
adding content to their social media sites that 
is relevant to issues in any type of litigation 
to which they are a party or a witness.  And 
that information is not always private.  It’s 
discoverable.  It’s searchable.  And with the 
proper foundation, it’s admissible.

HOW IS SOCIAL MEDIA RELEVANT 
TO MY LAWSUIT?

Given this landscape, it should not be 
surprising that social media evidence is 
finding its way into litigated cases across 
the country.  In the past three years, more 
than 1,000 published cases have discussed 
social media as evidence (which means that, 
in all likelihood, there are thousands more 
unpublished cases in which it has been at 
issue).3  

• Proving business torts such as patent, 
copyright and trademark infringement.

• Proving breach of contract and unfair 
and deceptive trade practices.

• Establishing defamation or false-
advertising cases.

• Establishing violations of non-compete 
agreements.

• Proving liability issues in employment 
litigation.

• Determining personal-injury or business 
damages.

• Searching for assets.

• Establishing the credibility and 
background of expert witnesses.

• Conducting jury research.

This list will continue to grow.

HOW DO I GET MY HANDS ON 
SOCIAL MEDIA EVIDENCE?

How?  The same way that we litigators have 
been collecting evidence for all of our cases:    

WESTLAW JOURNAL/Katie Pasek
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informally and formally.  Informal methods 
involve searching the Internet for relevant 
material.  Formal methods involve sending 
discovery requests and issuing subpoenas.

Before filing a suit, attorneys and their clients 
only have informal methods at their disposal.  
This means that you and your staff do it or 
you hire a third-party company.  Law firms 
should take advantage of continuing legal 
education courses and other avenues to learn 
how to search for social media evidence.  

send a non-spoliation letter to the opposing 
party’s attorney (or to the party if he or she 
is unrepresented) as soon as a summons is 
received.

Spoliation is a critical issue that is not to be 
underestimated, especially when it comes 
to social media evidence.  In Torres	 et	 al.	 v.	
Lexington	 Insurance	 Co.	 et	 al., 237 F.R.D. 
533 (D.P.R. 2006), Trina Torres alleged that 
a masseur at a Westin Hotel in Puerto Rico 
sexually assaulted her, causing her and her 

Unique issues arise from social media’s 
novelty.  These issues can be resolved by 
applying traditional legal principles to the 
new media and evidence. 

Relevance

Federal Rule of Civil Procedure 401 defines 
“relevant evidence” as “evidence having any 
tendency to make the existence of any fact 
that is of consequence to the determination 
of the action more probable or less probable 
than it would be without the evidence.”  

The  Federal Rules of Civil Procedure permit 
discovery into “any non-privileged matter 
that is relevant to any party’s claim or 
defense.”  Usually, states have similar rules.

In other words, the evidence sought during 
discovery need not be admissible in trial as 
long as it “appears reasonably calculated 
to lead to the discovery of admissible 
evidence.”14  Applying these principles, 
courts have permitted discovery of social 
media information in cases in which parties 
have established a basis for requesting the 
information and have demonstrated that 
their request is not a “fishing expedition.”15  

How you articulate to a court why you need the 
opposing party’s entire social media profile 
is critical.  Listing the issues in your case 
(such as residency, pain and suffering, unfair 
trade practices, product disparagement or 
damages, etc.) and demonstrating to the 
court how evidence from your opponent’s 
social media profile may pertain to those 
issues is the task, and it will vary with every 
case.  As courts become increasingly familiar 
with social media evidence, the burden of 
proving that you haven’t “gone fishing” will 
lessen.

Courts across the country that have looked at 
a “privacy defense” for social media discovery 
have thus far found no basis for such a 
defense.16  However, due to the sensitive 
nature of some social media content, several 
state legislatures have enacted enhanced 
protections, although not in the litigation 
context.  There is a growing trend toward 
laws protecting social media privacy, with 
recent legislation in Delaware17 protecting 
students’ social media lives and laws in 
several states18 protecting employees and 
job applicants.  Most recently, the California 
Senate unanimously passed legislation 
that prohibits colleges and universities 
from requesting access to students’ social 

The published case law is exploding with references  
to social media, and the law on its use is  

still developing in every state and federal court.  

“Googling” someone is great, but it’s just the 
first step.  Plenty of other search engines, 
including most social networking sites, can 
be used to verify Google’s results.  One best 
practice is to develop a standard background 
investigation protocol for all witnesses, 
including your own, that includes searching 
through a variety of social media sites.

It is important to remember that the 
availability or visibility of a particular person’s 
profile depends on the particular social 
media website and the person’s specific 
security or privacy settings.  For example, 
a Facebook user may have his or her entire 
profile available for public viewing.  In 
contrast, someone who is more cautious may 
only allow “friends” to view their content.  
But sometimes you can see the “friends” of 
your investigation target (even if the profile is 
“private”).  The “friends” of your investigation 
target may not have their privacy settings set 
to exclude you, and you may find information 
or postings related to your target.4  

It is also important to recognize that what 
was once deleted from the Internet, whether 
it was posted on a social media platform or 
another site, is not necessarily gone forever.5  

Once a suit is filed, a litigator has more 
weapons in his or her arsenal.6  Formal 
discovery tools are much more powerful than 
informal searches because in addition to 
requesting a full print-out of a party’s social 
media sites7 and his or her passwords,8 you 
can request to have an expert examine the 
hard drive of the opposing party’s computer 
to see whether any information has been 
deleted.  Nevertheless, it is critical that you 

husband emotional distress.  The complaint 
asked for more than $2.1 million in damages,9 
but a federal judge denied the couple’s 
emotional distress claims after it found that 
the wife deleted relevant online postings.  In 
2011 a Virginia attorney was ordered to pay 
$522,000 as sanctions after instructing his 
client to remove damaging photographs 
from his Facebook profile.10

Attorneys who are concerned that the 
opposing party has deleted his or her social 
media account may want to subpoena 
records directly from the website.  In this 
instance, the federal Stored Communications 
Act, 18 U.S.C. § 2701,11 comes into play.  

The SCA regulates electronic communication 
service providers and remote computing 
service providers.  In very general terms, an 
entity is an ECS provider if it conveys electronic 
communications and it is an RCS provider if 
it stores electronic communications.12  The 
two types of service providers are subject to 
different restrictions on what type of user 
information they can release and when.  For 
lawyers, the difficulty is proving that the 
provider from which they seek information 
falls into one category or the other.13 

HOW CAN I USE SOCIAL MEDIA 
EVIDENCE? 

Like any other document or object, there are 
three principal hurdles to introducing social 
media information into evidence: 

• It must be relevant.

• It must be authentic.

• The evidence must not be subject to an 
exclusionary rule.  
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media accounts.19  This growing trend will be 
important to watch to see whether the courts 
ever extrapolate these privacy concerns into 
civil discovery.20 

Authenticity

An attorney seeking to introduce evidence 
from social networking sites must overcome 
the hurdle of authentication.21  

Under Federal Rule of Civil Procedure 901(a), 
“the requirement of authentication … is 
satisfied by evidence sufficient to support a 
finding that the matter in question is what its 
proponent claims.”  

Three questions must be answered:  

• What was actually on the website?

• Does the exhibit or testimony accurately 
reflect this content? 

• If so, is it attributable to the owner of the 
site?22  

As to website data, authenticity can be 
established by the testimony or — under Rule 
902(11) or (12) — a certification of any witness 
that he or she typed in the website’s uniform 
resource locator (URL), that he or she logged 
on to the site and reviewed what was there 
and that a printout or other exhibit fairly 
and accurately reflects what the witness 
saw.  It’s no different than the proof required 
to authenticate a photograph.  The witness 
may be lying or mistaken, but that is true of 
all testimony, and the witness is subject to 
cross-examination.

Authentication of social media profile pages 
is similar.  A profile page can be authenticated 
through the admission of the party posting 
it, a forensic review of the computer or other 
device of the person who allegedly created it, 
evidence from the social networking site or 
circumstantial evidence sufficient to link it to 
the purported creator of the site.  

Rule 901(b) lists several ways to authenticate 
evidence, including the “testimony of witness 
with knowledge,” “distinctive characteristics 
and the like” and “process or system.”  The 
litigator can combine these approaches. 

Notably, a number of courts have required 
more evidence than just a distinctive profile 
page to authenticate a specific posting on the 
site.  They have held, quite understandably, 
that the proponent of the evidence must 
show that a specific person authored the 
writing and not just that the writing came 
from that person’s account.23  

On both Facebook and Twitter, individual 
users create content inside a framework that 
the site provides.  A user logs into an account 
with a secure user name and password that 
he or she selects when setting up the account 
with an email address.  However, other than 
this user-provided information, the sites have 
no tools to verify an account holder’s identity.  

Hacking, unauthorized users and fictitious 
accounts raise the likelihood of third parties 
creating unauthorized posts.  The proponent 
of the evidence can address these concerns 
through the post’s distinctive characteristics, 
testimony from a witness with knowledge 
of the posting or from a forensic computer 
expert.  The proponent can also authenticate 
the evidence using corroborating non-
distinctive characteristics on profile pages or 
posts with additional evidence.24

Exclusionary rules

Social media evidence must also not be 
subject to any exclusionary rules, including 
inadmissible character evidence or hearsay. 

Under Rule 404(a), evidence of a person’s 
character or character trait is “not admissible 
for the purpose of proving action in conformity 
therewith on a particular occasion.”  Courts 
have recently been forced to apply Rule 404 
in the context of social media evidence.25  
Ultimately, these issues are decided on a 
case-by-case basis.

Under Rule 801(c), hearsay “is a statement, 
other than one made by the declarant while 
testifying at the trial or hearing, offered in 
evidence to prove the truth of the matter 
asserted.”  Most of the information attorneys 
will seek to admit from social media websites 
will qualify as “out-of-court” statements 
that are potentially subject to the hearsay 
exclusion.  However, under Rule 801(d)(2), 
any postings on a profile by a party opponent 
would qualify as “admissions” and therefore 
would be admissible.26  

THE ‘BIG PICTURE’

What can we take from all of this?  Social 
media is a big deal.  We are just at the outset 
of the revolution.  It will change the way we 
do nearly everything, from how we contact 
our family and friends, to how we buy things, 
to how we consume news, information and 
entertainment and even to how we select 
our leaders.  For lawyers, it will change the 
litigation landscape.

We are now officially plugged into the 
“matrix.”  As a person, you can choose to 
unplug from the matrix.  As a litigator, you 
need to see it as an incredible new tool in 
your belt.  Every party and every witness in 
your cases most likely has a social media 
presence, and you can often find some very 
useful things that may help you win your 
case.  You may not “like” Facebook, but you’d 
be wise to “friend” it.  WJ

NOTES
1 Many websites describe social media statistics, 
and although none have the imprimatur of an 
official declaration from the Library of Congress, 
the sites tend to agree on the statistical trends.  
In particular, see http://www.ignitesocialmedia.
com/social-media-stats/2012-social-network-
analysis-report/; http://thesocialskinny.com/ 
216-social-media-and-internet-statistics-
september-2012/; http://www.mediabistro.com/
alltwitter/social-networks-2012_b26341 and 
http://techcrunch.com/2012/06/14/comscore-
us-internet-report-yoy-pinterest-up-4000-
amazon-up-30-android-top-smartphone-more/.

2 Shea Bennett, Infographic: Twitter, Facebook, 
Google, YouTube — What Happens On the Internet 
Every 60 Seconds?, AllTwiTTer, June 25, 2012, 
available at http://www.mediabistro.com/
alltwitter/data-never-sleeps_b24551. 

3 One social media investigation firm, X1 
Media, has a constantly updated listing of every 
published case discussing social media, with links 
to the cases.  See http://www.x1discovery.com/
social_media_cases_2011.html.  It is a valuable 
resource.

4 Certainly, ethical concerns are present here.  
There is nothing unethical about an attorney or 
an agent of an attorney accessing an opposing 
party’s or witness’ social media evidence that 
is not protected with privacy settings.  Scouring 
the Internet for publicly available information is 
no different than video surveillance in a public 
place.  However, anonymously “friending” an 
opposing party or a critical witness in order to 
get past their privacy settings may be a breach 
of your ethical obligations.  See Philadelphia Bar 
Ass’n Prof’l Guidance Comm., Opinion 2009-
02 (2009); but see Mara E. Zazzali-Hogan & 
Jennifer Marino Thibodaux, Friend or Foe:  Ethical 
Issues for Lawyers to Consider When ‘Friending’ 
Adverse Witnesses Online, 197 N.J.l.J. 726 (2009), 
available at http://www.gibbonslaw.com/
UserFiles/Image/1251901206.pdf (noting that 
there is no New Jersey authority on point).  See 
generally Jaclyn S. Millner & Gregory M. Duhl, 
Social Networking and Workers’ Compensation 
Law at the Crossroads, 31 PAce L. rev. 1 (Winter 
2011) (discussing the approaches of various 
jurisdictions to the ethical issues of obtaining 
social media evidence).

5 The website “Internet Archive” has a feature 
called the “wayback machine,” available at http://
wayback.archive.org/web/*/http://archive.org/
web/web.php.  This feature allows the reader to 
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access archived material even from social media 
websites.  

6 See Monique C.M. Leahy, Pretrial Involving 
Facebook, MySpace, LinkedIn, Twitter, and Other 
Social Networking Tools, 121 Am. Jur. Proof of 
fAcTs 3d 1 (originally published in 2011, database 
updated in August 2013).

7 Federal Rule of Civil Procedure 34(a)(1)(A) 
allows a party to request “any designated 
documents or electronically stored information — 
including … data or data compilations — stored 
in any medium” in “the responding party’s 
possession, custody, or control.”  Therefore, 
attorneys may use subpoenas or other discovery 
requests for any information posted and stored 
on social networking websites.  This information 
may include messages, pictures, videos or 
e-mails related to the claim.  Note as well that 
Facebook recently added a “download profile” 
feature which allows counsel to request that the 
opposing party download his or her entire profile, 
including information, interests, photographs 
and wall postings.

8 See Orin Kerr, Judge Orders Plaintiff to Give 
Defendant Her Facebook Username and Password 
So Defendant Can Access Plaintiff’s Account as 
Part of Discovery, volokh coNsPirAcy Blog (Dec. 1, 
2011), http://volokh.com/2011/12/01/judge-
orders-plaintiff-to-give-defendant-her-facebook-
password-so-defendant-can-access-plaintiffs-
account-as-part-of-discovery.

9 Torres et al. v. Lexington Ins. Co. et al., 
No. 3:05-cv-01736, complaint filed (D.P.R. July 5, 
2005).

10 See John Patzakis, Facebook spoliation costs 
lawyer $522,000, ends his legal career, NexT 
geNerATioN eDiscovery lAw & Tech Blog (Nov. 15, 
2011), http://blog.x1discovery.com/2011/11/15/
facebook-spoliation-costs-lawyer-522000-ends-
his-legal-career/.

11 See, e.g., Law Enforcement and Third-Party 
Matters: May I Obtain Contents of a User’s 
Account from Facebook Using a Civil Subpoena?, 
fAceBook, available at http://www.facebook.com/
help/?faq=133221086752707 (“[T]he Stored 
Communications Act, 18 U.S.C. §  2701 et seq., 
prohibits Facebook from disclosing the contents 
of an account to any non-governmental entity 
pursuant to a subpoena or court order.”).

12 See, generally, Orin S. Kerr, A User’s Guide to 
the Stored Communications Act, and a Legislator’s 
Guide to Amending It, 72 geo. wAsh. l. rev. 1208, 
1214 (2004).

13 Crispin v. Christian Audigier Inc., 717 F. Supp. 
2d 965, 991 (C.D. Cal. 2010) (highlights the 
difficulty of placing contemporary social media 
outlets into the ECS/RCS dichotomy created 
almost three decades ago.  The court determined, 
with some effort, that Facebook and MySpace 
were ECS providers with respect to unopened 
messages but were RCS providers with respect 
to opened messages and wall postings.  Thus, 
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COMMENTARY

FIRREA: The Justice Department’s expansive (and expensive)  
tool of choice
By Allyson B. Baker, Esq., and Andrew Olmem, Esq. 
Venable LLP

Internal Revenue Service, and the banking 
regulatory agencies and consists of several 
working groups on areas including consumer 
protection and mortgages.  

A recent press release describes the task 
force as “the broadest coalition of law 
enforcement, investigatory and regulatory 
agencies ever assembled to combat fraud.” 
Although the task force comprises numerous 
federal agencies, it operates under the 
leadership and guidance of the Department 
of Justice, as Attorney General Eric Holder 
serves as its chair.  

RELYING ON FIRREA

The DOJ has relied on FIRREA heavily in 
conjunction with its work on the Financial 
Fraud Task Force because of the statute’s 
broad reach, lower burden of proof, 
substantial penalties and long limitations 
period.  Specifically, FIRREA provides that 
the DOJ may seek civil penalties for violations 
of 14 different federal criminal laws, including 
mail and wire fraud statutes, 18 U.S.C. 
§§  1341, 1343.  Certain of those violations, 
including the most commonly alleged 
predicate violations, such as mail and wire 

A series of recent court rulings has effectively 
expanded the Department of Justice’s 
authority to investigate and prosecute banks 
for claims related to the financial crisis.  

These rulings have broadly interpreted a little-
known provision of the Financial Institutions 
Reform, Recovery and Enforcement Act of 
1989 to allow the DOJ to seek millions of 
dollars in penalties from federally insured 
financial institutions for violations of criminal 
fraud statutes.  Under Section 951 of FIRREA, 
codified as 12 U.S.C. § 1833a, the DOJ need 
only rely on a civil burden of proof to prove 
criminal fraud, provided that the alleged 
fraud “affects” a federally insured financial 
institution.  

Although the provision was originally viewed 
as a measure to protect banks from fraud 
by third parties, three separate courts have 
recently construed this “affects” requirement 
broadly and affirmed that a bank can be 
both a “victim of” and a “participant in” the 
predicate fraud that gives rise to a FIRREA 
claim.  As a result, FIRREA has become the 
DOJ’s statute of choice when proceeding 
against financial institutions.  Given the 
serious consequences of a FIRREA suit, 
financial institutions should be aware of its 
unique reach and legal standards. 

FINANCIAL CRISIS FRAUD FORCE

The DOJ’s use of FIRREA suits has been 
linked closely to its role on the Financial 
Fraud Task Force.  President Barack Obama 
formed the task force in 2009 in response 
to the financial crisis.  The task force 
comprises more than 20 federal agencies, 
including the Department of Justice, the 
Consumer Financial Protection Bureau, the 
Securities and Exchange Commission, the 
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The Justice Department’s use of FIRREA suits has been linked closely to its role on the Financial Fraud Task Force, which comprises more 
than 20 federal agencies, including the SEC and the IRS.
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fraud, must also affect federally insured 
financial institutions.  See 12 U.S.C. § 1833a.

Under FIRREA, however, the DOJ need only 
prove that there was a violation of one of 
these 14 predicate criminal offenses “by a 
preponderance of the evidence,” which is a 
civil evidentiary burden.  12 U.S.C. § 1833a(f).  
If the DOJ successfully proves a violation of 
one or more predicate offenses, then under 
FIRREA, a court can impose a civil penalty 
that is as much as $1 million for each violation.  
But in the case of continuing violations a 
civil money penalty can be imposed that 
is the lesser of $1 million a day or a total of  
$5 million. See 12 U.S.C. §§ 1833a(b)(1), (2).  

However, many of the larger FIRREA cases 
the DOJ is currently prosecuting against 
banks alleging mortgage fraud seek 
penalties well in excess of these numbers, 
because FIRREA also imposes a penalty if 
there is a finding that “any person [including 
any corporation] derives pecuniary gain from 
the violation,” or if the violation results in 
a loss to a person other than the violator.   
“[T]he amount of the civil penalty may exceed 
the amounts [described above] but may not 
exceed the amount of such gain or loss.”   
12 U.S.C. § 1833a(b)(3).

NEW POWERS

Furthermore, under FIRREA, the DOJ can 
gather evidence through formal process in 
advance of filing a civil action.  FIRREA allows 
the DOJ to issue administrative subpoenas 
seeking documents and testimony in 
connection with a civil investigation initiated 
“in contemplation of a civil proceeding 
under” FIRREA.  12 U.S.C. §  1833a(g)(1).  
This investigative authority is akin to the 
enforcement authority of other agencies like 
the SEC, the CFPB and the Federal Trade 
Commission.

In addition, FIRREA has a 10-year limitations 
period; this allows the DOJ to investigate 

enforcement actions against individuals and 
related parties whose fraudulent activities 
caused the failure of savings and loan 
institutions.

CONCLUSION: LIMITING FIRREA?

As the DOJ has increased its use of FIRREA 
suits, courts have increasingly examined 
the question of whether there are limits on 
its scope and application.  In several high-
profile matters pending in the U.S. District 
Court for the Southern District of New York, 
banks that are defendants in FIRREA cases 
have contended that their cases should be 
dismissed on grounds that the banks could 
not — as a matter of FIRREA’s plain language 
and intent — engage in self-inflicting 
conduct.   In other words, they could not 
engage in alleged wrongdoing that “affects” 
themselves.  

The courts, however, have disagreed.  On 
Sept. 24, in United	 States	 v.	 Wells	 Fargo	
Bank, No. 12-civ-7527, 2013 WL 5312564 
(S.D.N.Y. 2013), a case alleging that Wells 
Fargo engaged in fraudulent mortgage 
underwriting, the court held that a “financial 
institution, through its own misconduct, can 
affect itself within the meaning of FIRREA.”  
This holding builds on an earlier and even 
more expansive opinion issued by Judge 
Lewis Kaplan in United	 States	 v.	 Bank	 of	
New	York	Mellon, 2013 WL 1749418 (S.D.N.Y. 
Apr. 24, 2013), and has further validated the 
DOJ’s expansive use of FIRREA and made 
it the tool of choice for bringing civil fraud 
cases against banks in the aftermath of the 
financial crisis.   WJ  

A series of recent court rulings has effectively expanded  
the Department of Justice’s authority to investigate and 
prosecute banks for claims related to the financial crisis.  

conduct alleged to have occurred several 
years earlier during the financial crisis, 
further enhancing the appeal of FIRREA 
in the eyes of the DOJ.  In recent years, the 
DOJ has brought numerous FIRREA cases 
and pursued even more investigations under 
FIRREA.  

The DOJ’s current use of FIRREA has, in 
many ways, strayed from the statute’s origins.  
Congress passed FIRREA in response to the 
savings and loan crisis of the late 1980s.  
The statute’s legislative history suggests 
that Congress focused little if any debate on 
Section 1833a.   Rather, the congressional 
debate indicates that Congress was focused 
more on expanding authority to bring 
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Better  Markets, a pressure group critical of 
large banks, reacted positively to the final 
rule, calling it a “major defeat for Wall Street.”

Bank of America CEO Brian Moynihan said at 
a conference on Dec. 10 that it cost his bank 
up to $500 million of revenue per quarter 
when it exited the trading activity banned 
under the Volcker rule.

But he said the final text should not force 
the bank to make any further significant 
adjustments.  “I don’t think it changes 
anything dramatically,” Moynihan said.

Championed by former Federal Reserve 
Chairman Paul Volcker, the rule bans 
proprietary trading, or speculative trading 
by banks for their own profit, and is a central 
part of the 2010 Dodd-Frank Wall Street 
reform act.

In the final rule, regulators strictly defined 
carve-outs for trades executed to serve 
clients’ interests or protect against market 
risks.

banks entered all kinds of trades that 
were supposed to hedge risk elsewhere in 
the business but that could be used as veiled 
speculation.

Another addition will make bank managers 
attest that their banks have appropriate 
programs in place to achieve compliance 
with the rule, though they would not 
themselves have to confirm their banks are 
in compliance.

Further, traders could no longer be paid 
big bonuses for taking on undue risk and 
compensation should be “designed not to 
reward ... prohibited proprietary trading.”

Regulators also eased the rule in some areas, 
for instance, including a wider exemption for 
the trading of government bonds, which will 
now be permitted for foreign sovereign fixed-
income instruments and not just for U.S. 
bonds, after complaints from Europe.

They also scaled back their definition of 
which hedge funds and private equity funds 
fall under a rule limiting banks’ investment to 
a maximum of 3 percent of funds’ total value 
and 3 percent of the banks’ total core capital.

preparing for a potential fight in court to try 
to knock out the legislation, possibly helped 
by dissent within the agencies.

Scott O’Malia, a Republican member of the 
Commodity Futures Trading Commission, 
said he had only three weeks to review the 
lengthy document, which he said flouted 
proper rulemaking.

Dan Gallagher at the Securities and 
Exchange Commission likened the rule to 
President Barack Obama’s flawed launch 
of the HealthCare.gov website, accusing 
regulators of pressing ahead with “massive, 
untested governmental intrusion.”

Such remarks, laid down in written dissenting 
statements, can be a powerful tool during 
later lawsuits and lay out a possible roadmap 
banks could use to challenge the rule.

Legal experts are generally expecting a court 
challenge, for instance from Wall Street 
trade groups, though none of these have so 
far announced any plans to do so.

Banks have already done away with many 
of the riskiest trading operations common 
before the crisis.

Morgan Stanley in January 2011 said it would 
spin off its proprietary trading unit Process 
Driven Trading, which had 60 employees 
around the world.

Goldman Sachs said it had shut down two 
proprietary trading desks, one known as 
GSPS and another that did global macro 
trading, by February 2011.  And Citigroup has 
closed a loss-making unit that had traded 
stocks.

These banks have such sprawling legal 
structures engaging in different financial 
activities that the rule needs to be adopted 
by a patchwork of U.S. agencies: three bank 
watchdogs and two market regulators.

The Volcker rule applies only to banks that 
have access to the Federal Reserve’s discount 
window or other government backstops.  
Financial firms that do not have access, such 
as Jefferies, can continue to own hedge funds 
or engage in proprietary trading.  WJ

(Reporting	 by	 Emily	 Stephenson	 and	 Douwe	
Miedema;	 additional	 reporting	 by	 Sarah	 N.	
Lynch	 in	Washington	and	David	Henry,	Peter	
Rudegeair	 and	 Dan	 Wilchins	 in	 New	 York;	
editing	by	Karey	Van	Hall,	Tim	Dobbyn,	Krista	
Hughes,	Lisa	Shumaker	and	Jan	Paschal)

Volcker rule
CONTINUED FROM PAGE 1

The Volcker rule bans proprietary trading, or speculative 
trading by banks for their own profit, and is a central part of the 

2010 Dodd-Frank Wall Street reform act.

Regulators are eager to prevent a repeat 
of trading debacles such as JPMorgan’s 
$6 billion trading loss in 2012, dubbed 
the “London Whale” because of the huge 
positions the bank took in credit markets.

LEGITIMATE TRADES

Regulators have struggled for years to 
agree on a text that, while prohibiting risky 
activities, would still allow banks to take on 
risk on behalf of clients as market-makers, to 
hedge risk, or when underwriting securities.  
Banks have argued these functions are 
critical to markets.

In the final wording, banks could still engage 
in market-making and take on positions 
to help clients trade, but their inventories 
should not exceed “the reasonably expected 
near-term demands of customers,” the 
regulators said.

The regulators also seek to put an end 
to portfolio hedging, a practice in which 

The industry complained the previous 
proposed definition of so-called “covered 
funds” was too broad and that it would 
capture securitized loans, investment 
vehicles often used by corporations like joint 
ventures, registered funds based overseas 
and commodity pools.

The rule explicitly exempts many of those 
kinds of funds and also more narrowly 
defines commodity pools so that only 
those operating most like hedge funds are 
captured.

Regulators also extended the deadline by 
which banks have to fully comply with the 
new regulations by one year to July 2015, a 
widely expected move after they repeatedly 
missed deadlines for the rule.  Further delays 
were also possible, the regulators said in the 
text of the rule.

DISSENTERS

Even before the five regulators adopted the 
rule, lawyers were looking for weak spots, 
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Goldman Sachs & Co. v. North Carolina 
Municipal Power Agency Number 1, No. 
13-CV-01319, 2013 WL 6409348 (S.D.N.Y. 
Dec. 9, 2013).

U.S. District Judge Paul A. Crotty of the 
Southern District of New York held that a 
forum-selection clause in a broker-dealer 
agreement governing auction-rate securities 
waived North Carolina Municipal Power 
Agency Number 1’s right to Financial Industry 
Regulatory Authority arbitration. 

Judge Crotty’s decision is consistent with 
others in the Southern District of New York 
but conflicts with a decision in the 4th U.S. 
Circuit Court of Appeals and the 8th Circuit.

Goldman Sachs
CONTINUED FROM PAGE 1

auctions held every seven, 14, 28 or 35 
days.  Investors who bid on the securities 
at the auctions are looking for long-term 
investments with interest or dividend rates 
higher than a typical money market fund. 

At the auctions, investors bid on securities 
based on the interest rate they would like to 
receive.  If no bid is sufficient to buy all of the 
securities, the auction is considered “failed,” 
and the securities’ issuers must pay interest 
at a higher, pre-determined “maximum” or 
“penalty” rate until the next auction.

The defendants operated the auctions on 
behalf of the issuers.

AUCTION-MARKET FAILURE IN 
2007-2008

There is a common narrative in the plaintiffs’ 
allegations regarding the collapse of the 
auction-rate securities market, according to 
court documents in several similar cases.  
They claim that the defendants realized the 
auction-rate market was failing in late 2007 
and made an effort to prop it up by submitting 
bids on their own, without disclosing this 
fact to the plaintiffs.  At the same time, they 
allegedly reduced their own ARS exposure by 
selling the securities.  

The interest rates for adjustable-rate 
securities began increasing in October 2007 

and issuers began to lose money on both the 
auction-rate securities and the interest-rate 
swaps they typically executed along with the 
securities issuance, court records say.  

An interest-rate swap is a type of financial 
insurance where one party exchanges 
periodic, fixed-interest-rate payments for 
floating-rate interest payments.  

The plaintiffs claim that the defendants 
and underwriters abandoned their practice 
of submitting support bids to prop up the 
market in early 2008, causing widespread 
auction failures that sent interest rates and 
interest payments skyrocketing.

They say they were forced to refinance the 
securities at a loss.

FINRA ARBITRATION

Instead of filing in state or federal courts, the 
plaintiffs filed statements of claims with the 
Financial Industry Regulatory Authority

FINRA rules allow “customers” of its 
members to request arbitration to reconcile 
any dispute between the parties.  The rules 
define a “customer” as “not including a 
broker or dealer.”

FORUM-SELECTION CLAUSES

The defendants, eager to avoid arbitration, 
have filed suits in federal court, seeking to 
stop and prevent the arbitration proceedings 
on the ground that the plaintiffs agreed to 
litigate in federal or state court.  

They say the broker-dealer agreements 
between themselves and the plaintiffs 

“In practice, the decision follows prior cases 
that have defined the import and effect of 
mandatory language in forum-selection 
clauses, so any contracting party in the 
Southern District that agrees to a clause with 
such language should not confidently expect 
to retain a right to arbitrate through FINRA 
elsewhere,” attorney Mark Nebrig of Moore 
& Van Allen said in an email.  Nebrig is not 
affiliated with the case.

Attorney Glenn S. Gitomer of McCausland 
Keen & Buckman, who also is  not affiliated 
with the case, said in an email that “the 
decision is just another step in the continuing 
conflict among the federal courts about 
whether to compel FINRA arbitration of 
auction-rate securities issuers’ claims 
against their underwriting investment banks 
for failing to advise the issuers of the extent 
to which the success of the ARS auctions was 
contingent upon the underwriters’ support.” 

AUCTION-RATE SECURITIES

An auction-rate security is a financial 
instrument whose interest rate is determined 
at periodic auctions.  Issuers of auction-
rate securities, such as the power agency, 
are obligated to pay investors interest or 
dividends.  Interest payments are calculated 
based on the purchase price of ARS at 

REUTERS/Brendan McDermid

The plaintiffs say the defendants abandoned their practice of 
submitting support bids to prop up the market in early 2008, 

causing widespread auction failures that sent interest rates and 
interest payments skyrocketing.
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contained forum-selection clauses requiring 
that any dispute between the parties be 
resolved in federal or state court.

GOLDMAN DECISION

Judge Crotty agreed with defendant 
Goldman Sachs in Goldman	 Sachs	 &	 Co.	
v.	 North	 Carolina	 Municipal	 Power	 Agency	
Number	1, saying the forum-selection clause 
waived the municipality’s right to FINRA 
arbitration.

The forum-selection clause of the broker-
dealer agreement said the parties agreed 
that “all actions and proceedings arising 
out of” the agreement were to be brought in 
New York federal court, and the agreement 
contained “‘positive assurance’ that the 
parties intended to preclude arbitration,” the 
judge said.

In reading the clause along with the 
agreement’s merger clause (a segment 
stating that the broker-dealer agreement 
contains the entire agreement between the 
parties) Judge Crotty held that the clause 
expressly waived arbitration by stating that 
“all actions and proceedings” were to be 
“brought” in the federal court.

The decision follows the same reasoning 
in Goldman,	 Sachs	 &	 Co.	 v.	 Golden	 Empire	
Schools	Financing	Authority, 922 F. Supp. 2d 
435, 440-41 (S.D.N.Y. 2013), and Citigroup 
Global	Markets	 Inc.	v.	North	Carolina	Eastern	
Municipal	 Power	 Agency, No. 13-CV-1703 
(S.D.N.Y. May 3, 2013).  The judges in those 
cases also held that FINRA arbitration is 
waived by a forum-selection clause in a 
broker-dealer agreement.

CONFLICT WITH THE 8TH AND 4TH 
CIRCUITS

The decisions in the 2nd Circuit conflict with 
decisions in other jurisdictions.

The 4th Circuit previously ruled in UBS	
Financial	 Services	 Inc.	 v.	 Carilion	 Clinic, No. 
12-2066, 2013 WL 239051 (4th Cir. Jan 23, 
2013), that a forum-selection clause did not 
waive FINRA arbitration.

The appeals court held that the clause waived 
a “jury trial” but not arbitration, saying the 
phrase “all actions and proceedings” referred 
to litigation, not arbitration.  It also defined 
a FINRA “customer” as non-broker or dealer 
people who purchase commodities or 
services from a FINRA member in the course 
of activities regulated by FINRA, namely 
investment banking and securities business.   

U.S. District Judge Michael J. Davis of the 
District of Minnesota similarly ruled that 
an issuer of auction-rate securities could 
request mandatory arbitration from a 
FINRA member despite the existence of 
broker-dealer agreement featuring a forum-
selection clause.  UBS	 Sec.	 v.	 Allina	 Health	
Sys., No. 12-2090, 2013 WL 500373 (D. Minn. 
Feb. 11, 2013).

The relevant part of the forum-selection 
clause said the parties agreed that “all 
actions and proceedings … shall be brought” 
in New York federal or state court, the opinion 
said.  The parties also agreed to waive any 
objection to the selected forums.

Judge Davis said the forum-selection clause 
of the broker-dealer agreement did not 
supersede FINRA arbitration because the 
agreement did not sufficiently specify any 
express intent to waive a customer’s right to 
FINRA arbitration.

“[T]he clause in the broker-dealer agreement 
does not supersede, waive or preclude the 
right to FINRA arbitration,” he wrote.

MAKING SENSE OF THE CONFLICTS

According to attorney Nebrig, the conflict 
“involves two apparently disparate questions 

when interpreting a forum-selection clause’s 
impact on FINRA Rule 12200”: 

• Is the clause “sufficiently specific” to 
supersede arbitration (4th Cir.); or 

•  Does the clause provide “positive 
assurance” that a dispute is no longer 
subject to arbitration (S.D.N.Y.).  

“The answers from these decisions using 
mandatory forum-selection language for 
‘all actions and proceedings’ is enough 
to provide such positive assurance in the 
[Southern District of New York], but not 
sufficiently specific to supersede arbitration 
in the 4th Circuit,” Nebrig said.

Attorney Gitomer noted that “the courts 
in Carilion	 and Goldman	 Sachs, effectively 
looking at the same language, came up with 
conflicting decisions.  

“This seems to be consistent with the 
conflicting results that have been reached 
in different circuits in cases dealing with 
whether underwriters must arbitrate in the 
FINRA dispute-resolution forum claims by 
ARS issuers.   Some courts have expressed 
the belief that these claims are clearly 
arbitrable; other courts have fashioned 
decisions consistent with their belief that the 
FINRA requirement that members arbitrate 
customer claims was never intended to 
apply to claims of ARS issuers against their 
underwriters,” Gitomer said.

DRAFTING FUTURE BROKER 
DEALER AGREEMENTS

Although the decisions apparently conflict, 
it may be prudent when drafting a forum-
selection clause in broker-dealer agreements 
to expressly state whether it is the parties’ 
intention to waive arbitration.  WJ

Related Court Document:
Opinion: 2013 WL 6409348

See Document Section A (P. 25) for the opinion.
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NEWS IN BRIEF

MERRILL LYNCH SETTLES SEC SUIT FOR $131 MILLION

Merrill Lynch has agreed to pay $131.8 million to settle charges with the Securities and Exchange 
Commission for allegedly defrauding its collateralized-debt obligation investors, the agency 
announced.   Collateralized debt obligations are securities backed by pools of other debt 
securities, including mortgage-backed securities, credit derivatives and other structured debt 
securities.  In administrative proceedings the SEC said Merrill marketed the CDOs to investors 
using misleading documents.  “Investors did not have the benefit of knowing that a prominent 
hedge fund firm with its own interests was heavily involved behind the scenes in selecting the 
underlying portfolios,” George S. Canellos, co-director of the SEC’s Division of Enforcement, said 
in a statement.

In the Matter of Merrill Lynch, Pierce, Fenner & Smith  Inc., No. 3-15642, order instituting 
administrative and cease-and-desist proceedings entered (S.E.C. Dec. 12, 2013).

$1.9B MBS SUIT CONTINUES AGAINST JPMORGAN, GE

A lawsuit demanding that JPMorgan and General Electric buy back mortgage loans that were 
part of a securities offering will move forward, a New York state court judge has ruled.  Judge 
Shirley Werner Kornreich  of the New York County Supreme Court said the agreement between 
the companies and the trustee of the securities, BNY Mellon, did not limit the time the trustee 
could bring a cause of action.  The trustee alleges the underlying mortgage loans of the securities 
were not as good as advertised.  The companies unsuccessfully argued in their motion to dismiss 
the complaint that the agreement governing the securities limited when the trustee could bring 
suit.  Judge Kornreich disagreed, saying the agreement did not limit the time period because the 
companies’ representations either accurately represented the loan quality or did not.

Bank of New York Mellon ex rel. JP Morgan Mortgage Acquisitions Trust 2006-WMC4 v. WMC 
Mortgage LLC et al., No. 654464/2012, 2013 WL 6153207 (N.Y. Sup. Ct., N.Y. County Nov. 21, 
2013).

Related Court Document:
Order: 2013 WL 6153207

OPT-OUT PLAINTIFFS CAN GET MORE THAN CLASS MEMBERS, REPORT SAYS

A report issued by Cornerstone Research in conjunction with Latham & Watkins LLP analyzed the 
characteristics of opt-outs in securities class action settlements.   According to the study, in more 
than half of all securities class actions with settlements of at least $500 million, at least one 
punitive class member chose to opt out of the class and pursue a separate lawsuit.  The analysis 
studied over 1,200 settlements between 1996 and 2011 and found that opt-out plaintiffs received 
on average more than 12 percent of the settlement’s value, and in some cases up to 20 percent.  
The full report is available at http://bit.ly/1gKhuYI.
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